Geneva interim agreement on the Iranian nuclear program

From Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia

On 24 November 2013, the Geneva interim agreement, officially titled the Joint Plan of Action, [1] was a pact signed between Iran and the P5+1 countries in Geneva, Switzerland. It consists of a short-term freeze of portions of Iran's nuclear program in exchange for decreased economic sanctions on Iran, as the countries work towards a long-term agreement.^[2] It represents the first formal agreement between the United States and Iran in 34 years.^[3] Implementation of the agreement began 20 January 2014.^[4] Senior officials of the P5+1 and Iran met February 18-20 in Vienna and agreed on a framework for future negotiations. The next round of senior-level talks took place on March 17, 2014 in Vienna.^[5]

Contents

- 1 Background
- 2 Gallery of lead negotiators
- 3 Negotiations
- 4 Agreement provisions
 - 4.1 Fissile materials
- 5 International reception
- 6 Implementation
- 7 See also
- 8 References
- 9 External links

Background

The nuclear program of Iran has been a matter of contention with the international community since 2002, when an Iranian dissident group revealed the existence of two undeclared nuclear facilities.^[6]

The International Atomic Energy Agency, charged with monitoring and ensuring peaceful nuclear activities, referred the matter of Iran's nuclear program to the UN Security Council in February 2006, after finding that Iran had not been in compliance with its duties as a signatory of the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT).^[7] For what



Nuclear power in Iran

- Timeline of nuclear power in Iran
- Atomic Energy Organization of Iran
- Nuclear facilities in Iran
- International treaties:
 - Nuclear Non-Proliferation **Treaty**
 - Additional Protocol
 - Geneva Accord
 - Comprehensive Accord
- International organizations:
 - International Atomic Energy Agency
 - Non-Aligned Movement
- List of United Nations resolutions concerning Iran
- Individuals:
 - Iranian nuclear negotiators
 - Hassan Rouhani
 - Ali Larijani
 - Saeed Jalili
 - Javad Zarif
 - Ali Akbar Salehi
 - Fereydoon Abbasi
 - Mohamed ElBaradei

3/14/2015 8:22 AM 1 of 13

the IAEA judged to be continued non-compliance, the UN Security Council has voted four times since 2006 to impose limited economic sanctions against Iran. In its resolutions, the Council required Iran to fully cooperate with the IAEA and to suspend all uranium enrichmentrelated activities.^[8] Dore Gold, Israel's former ambassador to the United Nations, has emphasized that the resolutions were adopted under Chapter VII of the United Nations Charter and "are legally binding under international law, adding further legal force to the argument that Iran has no legal right whatsoever to enrich uranium". [9]

In addition, the United States and European Union have voluntarily imposed additional sanctions against Iran, targeting its natural resource exports (particularly oil and natural gas), petrochemical, aerospace and automotive industries, banking system, and access to international finance.

- Yukiya Amano
- Other articles:
 - Operation Merlin
 - Green Salt Project
 - Iran and weapons of mass destruction
 - Iran—United States relations after 1979

Iran held a presidential election in June 2013 that was won by Hassan Rouhani, his campaign promised moderation and constructive engagement with the international community over its nuclear program and reverse Iran's international isolation.^[10] Rouhani was Iran's chief nuclear negotiator from 2003 to 2005.

In addition, the Associated Press reported in November 2013 that officials in the Obama administration had been in contact secretly with Iranian officials throughout 2013 about the feasibility of an agreement over the Iranian atomic program. The report said that American and Iranian officials met face-to-face five times in Oman. [11] The secret meetings, personally authorised by U.S. President Barack Obama, were launched in March 2013 in Muscat, while Iranian President Mahmoud Ahmadinejad was in power.^[12] Obama informed Israeli Prime Minister Benjamin Netanyahu of these talks when Netanyahu visited the White House on 30 September 2013.[13]

In parallel with the implementation of the P5+1 interim agreement IAEA and Iran have agreed on a framework for cooperation that includes practical measures that to resolve questions about Iran's nuclear program, including activities that may be related to nuclear weapons. [14][15][16][17]

Gallery of lead negotiators



P5+1 and Iranian negotiators meet along with E.U. High Representative Catherine Ashton in Geneva

3/14/2015 8:22 AM 2 of 13













Iran Mohammad Javad Zarif, Minister of Foreign Affairs

European Union Catherine Ashton, High Representative

Germany Guido Westerwelle, Minister of Foreign Affairs

China Wang Yi, Foreign Minister

France Laurent Fabius, Foreign Minister

United Kingdom William Hague, Foreign Secretary





United States John Kerry, Secretary of State

Russia Sergey Lavrov, Foreign Minister

Negotiations

Previous talks between Iran and the P5+1, chaired by European Union High Representative Catherine Ashton, [18] were held in the Kazakh city of Almaty on 26-27 February 2013 and 5-6 April, in the Turkish city of Istanbul on 17–18 March, [19] and in Geneva on 7–8 November—all without agreement.^[20] The sides agreed to meet again on 20 November [21]

The 20 November negotiations were attended at the foreign minister level by the participant countries.^[22]

The talks opened with a short introduction from Lady Ashton and the leader of the Iranian delegation, foreign minister Mohammad Javad Zarif, before the sides began bilateral discussions.^[23]

U.S. Deputy Secretary of State William Burns and Jake Sullivan, national security adviser to Vice President Joe Biden, were present for the Geneva talks but were not announced. They stayed at a separate hotel and entered



U.S. Secretary of State John Kerry takes notes as Russian Foreign Minister Sergey Lavrov speaks at the Geneva negotiations.

3/14/2015 8:22 AM 3 of 13

through service doors. Burns and Sullivan were key members of the back channel that President Obama sent to Oman to meet with Iranian officials.^[24] Burns was reported to be "in the driver's seat" of the American negotiating team, even though it was officially being led by Kerry and Wendy Sherman. Burns had met secretly with Iranian officials as far back as 2008, when then-President George W. Bush dispatched him.^[25]

Agreement provisions

The interim Geneva Accord was signed between P5+1 countries and the Islamic Republic of Iran on 24 November 2013.^[2] The deal consists of the short-term freezing of key parts of the Iranian nuclear program in exchange for a decrease in sanctions, as both sides work towards a long-term agreement.

The agreement makes the following stipulations on the Iranian nuclear program: [26][27]

- All uranium enriched beyond 5% will either be diluted or converted to uranium oxide. No new uranium at the 3.5% enrichment level will be added to Iran's current stock.
- No new centrifuges will be installed or prepared for installation.
- 50% of the centrifuges at the Natanz enrichment facility and 75% at the Fordow enrichment facility will be left inoperable. Iran will not use its advanced IR-2 centrifuges for enrichment.
- Iran will not develop any new uranium enrichment or nuclear reprocessing facilities.
- No fuel will be produced, tested, or transferred to the Arak nuclear power plant. In addition, Iran will share design details of the reactor.
- The IAEA will be granted daily access to Natanz and Fordow, with certain sites monitored by 24-hour cameras. The IAEA will also have access to Iran's uranium mines and centrifuge production facilities.
- Iran will address IAEA questions related to possible military dimensions of the nuclear program and provide data expected as part of an Additional Protocol.

In exchange, Iran will receive relief from sanctions of approximately US\$7 billion (£4.3 billion) and no additional sanctions will be imposed. [28][29] The agreement sets a six-month time frame for a more comprehensive follow-up agreement between Iran and the P5+1 negotiators to formalize Iran's nuclear relationship with the world. [30]

In addition, sanctions on Iran's auto industry, as well as sanctions on associated services will be suspended. License for the supply and installation in Iran of spare parts for safety of flight for Iranian civil aviation and associated services will be permitted.

According to nonproliferation expert David Albright, the blending down of Iran's 20% enriched uranium will lengthen the time required for a nuclear "breakout" from 1–1.6 months to 1.9–2.2 months.^[31]



The accord allows Iran to purchase spare parts for its aging airliner fleet.



Iran-made "TONDAR 90" uses the same parts as France's Dacia Logan.

The terms do not bar Iran from manufacturing components for their nuclear facilities off-site, as long as none of

those components are installed. One western diplomat said the impact of this "loophole" would be very minor and could serve as a test of Iranian intentions.^[32] The minister Mohammad Javad Zarif announced that Iran has no intentions to increase the capacity of the Arak site, "but construction will continue there".^[33]

Fissile materials

The NPT refers to the "inalienable right" to use nuclear energy for peaceful purposes, in conformity with the treaty's nonproliferation provisions. Those provisions obligate non-nuclear states not to acquire (or seek or receive assistance to manufacture) nuclear weapons, and to place all their nuclear material under IAEA safeguards. [34] Safeguards alone cannot provide assurance about a country's future intent, raising concerns that an Iranian enrichment facility under safeguards today could be used as the basis for break-out from non-proliferation commitments in the future. [34]

Iran asserts that the NPT guarantees a right to enrichment of uranium. Supreme Leader of Iran Ali Khamenei insisted that the right to enrich was a "red line" for the Iranian side. [35] In the past, United States and Europeans argued that Iran should forfeit its right to enrich, despite NPT provisions, due to its secret nuclear activities and failure to meet its obligations under its NPT safeguards. [36]

The interim agreement represents a compromise,^[37] and is silent as to whether or not Iran has a right to enrich uranium. It refers to Iran's "right to nuclear energy for peaceful purposes" and in its first phase allows Iran to continue some enrichment activities.^[38] Regarding a comprehensive long-term solution, the text states "This comprehensive solution would enable Iran to fully enjoy its right to nuclear energy for peaceful purposes under the relevant articles of the NPT in conformity with its obligations therein. This comprehensive solution could involve a mutually defined enrichment program with practical limits and transparency measures to ensure the peaceful nature of the program," but a footnote makes clear that "nothing is agreed until everything is agreed."^[39]

According to Iran expert Ray Takeyh the agreement showed that uranium enrichment is "respected in practice but not acknowledged just yet."^[40] A senior U.S. official said "the United States has not recognized a right to enrich for the Iranian government, nor do we intend to. The document does not say anything about recognizing a right to enrich uranium."^[41] More generally, a senior U.S. official said "we do not believe any country – not just Iran – has a right to enrichment. The Article IV of the NPT, the Nuclear Nonproliferation Treaty, is silent on the issue. It neither confers a right nor denies a right."^[42]

According to an editorial in the *Washington Post*, the published text means that the United States and other powers "have already agreed that Iranian enrichment activity will continue indefinitely." The document says the final deal will "have a specified long-term duration to be agreed upon," and after it expires, "the Iranian nuclear program will be treated in the same manner as that of any non-nuclear weapon state party to the NPT."^[43]

International reception

Iranian foreign minister Mohammad Javad Zarif stated that the agreement ensures Iran's right to enrich. [44] U.S. Secretary of State John Kerry, who led the American negotiation team, responded saying that: "There is no inherent right to enrich," and that "And everywhere in this particular agreement it states that they could only do that by mutual agreement, and nothing is agreed on until everything is agreed on." [45] Russian foreign minister Sergey Lavrov also stated that the agreement recognized Iran's right to enrichment, so long as the program is under IAEA control. [46] Israeli foreign minister Avigdor Lieberman agreed with this assessment of the language

in the agreement, although he was displeased by it. [47]

Arab nations Iraq, Syria, Kuwait, Qatar, Lebanon, the United Arab Emirates, Bahrain, and the Palestinian Authority have come out in favor of the temporary agreement. Lebanon also hailed the agreement, while emphasizing that Israel should also sign the NPT and rid itself of its nuclear weapons arsenal. Turkey, India and Pakistan have also welcomed the framework agreement. In a reference to Israel's arsenal of nuclear weapons, Saudi Arabia and Qatar both advocated a comprehensive solution to Iran's nuclear issue which would leave the entire Middle East free of nuclear weapons.

Reaction from Israeli government politicians was negative. Prime Minister Benjamin Netanyahu called the accord a "historic mistake," and intelligence minister Yuval Steinitz compared it to failed nuclear negotiations with North Korea. [47] Considering the way Washington handled the deal with Iran *The Jerusalem Post* questioned whether Netanyahu would "place Israel's security in the hands of US guarantees". [54] Leader of the opposition Isaac Herzog criticized Netanyahu's reaction as bad for Israel's relations with the United States, although Herzog also said that Obama was partly to blame for not communicating more closely with Israel. [55] Former Israeli military intelligence chiefs Amos Yadlin and Aharon Ze'evi-Farkash also criticized Netanyahu's reaction as damaging to U.S. relations. [56] The former head of the Israeli National Security Council Yaakov Amidror has listed the reasons the agreement failed to achieve anything significant and came to the conclusion that it "represents a failure, not a triumph, of diplomacy". [57]

Al Jazeera argued that Saudi Arabia, a regional rival of Iran, welcomed the agreement. The Saudi cabinet released a statement which read, in part: "The government of the kingdom sees that if there was goodwill, this agreement could represent a preliminary step towards a comprehensive solution to the Iranian nuclear program" and could eventually lead "to the removal of weapons of mass destruction, especially nuclear weapons, from the Middle East and the Arab Gulf (sic) region". [58] The Daily Telegraph reported that Nawaf Obaid, a senior advisor to the Saudi royal family, criticized the way the deal was achieved: "We were lied to, things were hidden from us". [59]

Reaction from the U.S. Congress was mixed. House Majority Leader Eric Cantor and Peter King were sharply critical of the agreement. Democrats Nancy Pelosi and Adam Smith were more positive. Speaker John Boehner and Democrat Eliot Engel were cautious.^[60] Reactions from Canada were "skeptical", with Minister of Foreign Affairs John Baird saying Iran "has not earned the right to have the benefit of the doubt."^[61]

UN Secretary General Ban Ki-moon hailed the interim agreement as the potential "beginnings of a historic agreement." [30]

Hezbollah published a declaration and stated this is a triumph for Iran. [62]

The American Israel Public Affairs Committee reacted skeptically to the agreement and urged preparation of sanctions legislation in Congress in case it failed, but fell short of calling for new sanctions immediately.^[63] Other non-partisan pro-Israel groups, including the Anti-Defamation League and the American Jewish Committee, were cautiously welcoming of the agreement after being briefed by White House officials.^[64]



(L-R) British Foreign Secretary William Hague, German Minister of Foreign Affairs Guido Westerwelle, EU High Commissioner Catherine Ashton, Iranian Foreign Minister Javad Zarif, Chinese Foreign Minister Wang Yi, US Secretary of State John Kerry, Russian Minister of Foreign Affairs Sergey Lavrov, and French Foreign Minister Laurent Fabius at a news conference at the conclusion of the negotiations.

Implementation

The representatives of the interim agreement parties announced that implementation of the interim agreement would begin on 20 January 2014.^[65]

Iran's negotiator, Araghchi disclosed in an interview that certain elements of the interim agreement are fleshed out in a secret 30-page "side agreement" or "nonpaper." He said it included information about the operation of a joint commission to oversee the interim agreement's implementation. State Department spokeswoman Marie Harf denied later that there was any secret agreement. [66] The text of the implementation agreement was not released to the public. US National Security Council spokeswoman Bernadette Meehan said that this is because the EU is not making the document public. "[67] The White House released a summary of technical understandings related to the implementation of the agreement on 16 January. [26][68]

President Barack Obama welcomed the announcement and said: "Beginning 20 January, Iran will for the first time start eliminating its stockpile of higher levels of enriched uranium and dismantling some of the infrastructure that makes such enrichment possible." [69] The Iranian official, Deputy Foreign Minister Abbas Araghchi noted that unilateral interpretations must be prevented and said: "the use of the word 'dismantle' by Obama was not appropriate." [70]

Implementation began on 20 January 2014, IAEA interim report confirmed that Iran had begun scaling back major nuclear activities, the first steps to implement the interim deal.^[71] The report followed by the partial lifting of sanctions by the United States and the EU.^[4] Iran's first payment of sanctions relief, of \$550 million, is scheduled to be transferred on 1 February. Iran is also scheduled to receive five additional payments of \$550 million through the end of July 2014, as well as \$900 million in two installments for the dilution of its enriched uranium.^[72] European shipping and insurance companies will also be allowed to conduct business with Iranian oil shipments to six countries currently waived from facing U.S. sanctions.^[73]

According to ISIS, Iran would have to take drastic measures to reach a final agreement. In addition to removing thousands of centrifuges that enrich uranium, Iran would have to shut down an underground uranium-enrichment site, convert a heavy water reactor and agree to a 20-year inspections regime.^[71]

See also

- Comprehensive agreement on Iranian nuclear program
- List of Middle East peace proposals
- InterContinental Geneva

References

- 1. "Iran Strongly Rejects Text of Geneva Agreement Released by White House" (http://english.farsnews.com/newstext.aspx?nn=13920905001087). Fars News Agency. 26 November 2013. Retrieved 1 December 2013.
- Anne Gearan and Joby Warrick (23 November 2013). "World powers reach nuclear deal with Iran to freeze its nuclear program" (http://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/kerry-in-geneva-raising-hopes-for-historic-nuclear-deal-with-iran/2013/11/23/53e7bfe6-5430-11e3-9fe0-fd2ca728e67c_story.html). *The Washington Post*. Retrieved 24 November 2013.
- 3. Blair, David (24 November 2013). "Iran nuclear deal agreed at Geneva talks" (http://www.telegraph.co.uk /news/worldnews/middleeast/iran/10470716/Iran-nuclear-deal-agreed-at-Geneva-talks.html). *The Daily Telegraph*. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- Frederick Dahl; Justyna Pawlak (20 January 2014). "West, Iran activate landmark nuclear deal" (http://www.reuters.com/article/2014/01/20/us-iran-nuclear-idUSBREA0J00420140120). Reuters. Retrieved 21 January 2014.
- "Next Round of Iran Nuclear Talks to be held in Vienna from March 17" (http://news.biharprabha.com/2014/02/next-round-of-iran-nuclear-talks-to-be-held-in-vienna-from-march-17/). *IANS*. news.biharprabha.com. Retrieved 20 February 2014.
- 6. Lewis, Jeffrey (28 October 2006). "NCRI Did Not Discover Natanz" (http://lewis.armscontrolwonk.com/archive /1274/ncri-did-not-discover-natanz). *ArmsControlWonk*. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 7. "Iran reported to Security Council" (http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/middle_east/4680294.stm). BBC Online. 4 February 2006. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 8. "Sanctions against Iran" (http://www.international.gc.ca/sanctions/iran.aspx). Government of Canada. 20 October 2013. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 9. "Media bias and Iran's 'right' to enrich uranium" (http://www.israelhayom.com/site/newsletter_opinion.php?id=6427). *Israel HaYom.* 22 November 2013. Retrieved 3 December 2013.
- 10. "Iran's president-elect calls his election victory a mandate for change" (http://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/jun/29/iran-president-election-victory). *Guardian*. 29 June 2013. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 11. "Report claims secret US-Iran talks laid groundwork for nuclear deal" (http://www.foxnews.com/politics/2013/11 /24/report-claims-secret-us-iran-talks-laid-groundwork-for-nuclear-deal/). Fox News Channel. Associated Press. 24 November 2013. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- Arshad Mohammed and Parisa Hafezi (24 November 2013). "U.S., Iran held secret talks on march to nuclear deal" (http://www.reuters.com/article/2013/11/24/us-iran-nuclear-bilateral-idUSBRE9AN0FB20131124). Reuters. Retrieved 30 November 2013.

- 13. Klapper, Bradley; Julie Pace and Matthew Lee (25 November 2013). "Obama advised Netanyahu of secret Iran talks in September" (http://www.timesofisrael.com/obama-advised-netanyahu-of-iran-talks-in-september/). *The Times of Israel*. Associated Press. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- "Iran to reveal detonator information in deal with UN" (http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-middle-east-26109994).
 BBC Online. 9 February 2014. Retrieved 10 February 2014.
- 15. "Parchin access not in new Iran-IAEA deal: AEOI" (http://www.presstv.ir/detail/2014/02/09/349941/parchin-access-not-in-iraniaea-deal/). Press TV. 9 February 2014. Retrieved 10 February 2014.
- "http://www.iaea.org/newscenter/news/2014/iaea_iran090214.html" (http://www.iaea.org/newscenter/news/2014/iaea_iran090214.html).
 International Atomic Energy Agency. 9 February 2014. Retrieved 10 February 2014.
- 17. "IAEA, Iran Sign Joint Statement on Framework for Cooperation" (http://www.iaea.org/newscenter/pressreleases /2013/prn201321.html). International Atomic Energy Agency. 11 November 2013. Retrieved 10 February 2014.
- 18. Laurence Norman and Jay Solomon (9 November 2013). "Iran Nuclear Talks End Without Deal" (http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB10001424052702303309504579187474244929100). Wall Street Journal. Retrieved 10 November 2013.
- 19. "Positive Iran-P5+1 talks in Almaty, Israel's total defeat: Report" (http://www.presstv.ir/detail/2013/03/11/293050 /iranp51-talks-israels-total-defeat/). Presstv.ir. 11 March 2013. Retrieved 24 November 2013.
- 20. James Reynolds (16 October 2013). "Iran nuclear checks most detailed ever Ashton" (http://www.bbc.co.uk /news/world-middle-east-24542216). BBC. Retrieved 24 November 2013.
- 21. Good, Chris (9 November 2013). "No Deal: Iran Nuclear Talks Sputter in Geneva" (http://abcnews.go.com/blogs/politics/2013/11/no-deal-iran-nuclear-talks-sputter-in-geneva/). ABC News. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 22. Borger, Julian; Saeed Kamali Dehghan (22 November 2013). "John Kerry and William Hague fly to Geneva to try to seal Iran nuclear deal" (http://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/nov/23/john-kerry-geneva-iran-nuclear-negotiations). *The Guardian*. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 23. "New Round Of Iran Nuclear Talks Opens In Geneva" (http://www.rferl.org/content/iran-nuclear-talks-geneva /25173635.html). Radio Free Europe / Radio Liberty. 20 November 2013. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 24. "A timeline of key events in US-Iran negotiations" (http://news.yahoo.com/timeline-key-events-us-iran-negotiations-051720553--politics.html). Yahoo News. Associated Press. 25 November 2013. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 25. Taylor, Guy (24 November 2013). "Career diplomat William Burns steered the Iran talks quietly though rounds of negotiations" (http://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2013/nov/24/career-diplomat-burns-steered-the-talks-quietly-th/). *The Washington Times*. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 26. "Summary of Technical Understandings Related to the Implementation of the Joint Plan of Action on the Islamic Republic of Iran's Nuclear Program" (http://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2014/01/16/summary-technical-understandings-related-implementation-joint-plan-actio). The White House. 16 January 2014. Retrieved 21 January 2014.
- 27. "The interim deal". Economist. 30 November 2013. p. 24.
- 28. Iran agrees to curb nuclear activity at Geneva talks (http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-middle-east-25074729)
- 29. Anne Gearan and Joby Warrick (24 November 2013). "Iran, world powers reach historic nuclear deal with Iran" (http://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/kerry-in-geneva-raising-hopes-for-historic-nuclear-deal-with-iran/2013/11/23/53e7bfe6-5430-11e3-9fe0-fd2ca728e67c_story.html). *The Washington Post*. Retrieved 24 November 2013.

- 30. Sturdee, Simon; Nicolas Revise (25 November 2013). "Iran nuke deal launches six-month diplomatic battle" (http://news.yahoo.com/iran-world-powers-agree-nuclear-deal-021500101.html). Yahoo News. Agence France-Presse. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 31. Albright, David (25 November 2013). "Reaching a final Iran deal will be difficult" (http://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/reaching-a-final-iran-deal-will-be-a-tough-road/2013/11/25/dcc2f752-55ef-11e3-ba82-16ed03681809 story.html). *The Washington Post*. Retrieved 1 December 2013.
- 32. "Iran nuclear deal 'loophole' may allow off-site reactor work" (http://www.jpost.com/Middle-East/Iran-nuclear-deal-loophole-may-allow-off-site-reactor-work-332975). *The Jerusalem Post*. Reuters. 25 November 2013. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 33. "http://www.jpost.com/Iranian-Threat/News/Iran-Construction-will-continue-at-Arak-nuclear-site-333166" (http://www.jpost.com/Iranian-Threat/News/Iran-Construction-will-continue-at-Arak-nuclear-site-333166). *The Jerusalem Post*. Reuters. 27 November 2013. Retrieved 1 December 2013.
- 34. "Safeguards to Prevent Nuclear Proliferation" (http://www.world-nuclear.org/info/Safety-and-Security /Non-Proliferation/Safeguards-to-Prevent-Nuclear-Proliferation/). *World Nuclear Association*. September 2013. Retrieved 24 January 2014.
- 35. Pfeffer, Anshel (22 November 2013). "Nuclear talks hit standstill as Iran demands right to enrich uranium, sanctions relief" (http://www.haaretz.com/news/middle-east/.premium-1.559520). *Haaretz*. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 36. "Iran: Where We Are Today A Report to the Committee on Foreign Relations, United States Senate, One Hundred Eleventh Congress, May 4, 2009" (http://www.fas.org/irp/congress/2009_rpt/iran.html). Fas.org. Retrieved 29 January 2014.
- 37. Charbonneau, Louis. "Compromise floated on enrichment issue in Iran nuclear talks -envoys" (http://web.archive.org /web/20131123141154/http://www.chicagotribune.com/news/sns-rt-us-iran-nuclear-compromise-20131122,0,2048978.story). *Chicago Tribune*. Reuters. Archived from the original (http://www.chicagotribune.com/news/sns-rt-us-iran-nuclear-compromise-20131122,0,2048978.story) on 2013-11-23. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 38. Elias Groll. "Did the United States Just Grant Iran the Right to Enrich Uranium?" (http://blog.foreignpolicy.com/posts /2013/11/24/did_the_united_states_just_grant_iran_the_right_to_enrich_uranium_0).
- 39. "Joint Plan of Action" (http://eeas.europa.eu/statements/docs/2013/131124_03_en.pdf). European Union. 24 November 2013. Retrieved 28 November 2013.
- 40. Landler, Mark (25 November 2013). "Kerry Defends Nuclear Pact With Iran" (http://thecaucus.blogs.nytimes.com/2013/11/24/kerry-defends-nuclear-pact-with-iran/). *New York Times*. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 41. "Background Briefing by Senior Administration Officials on First Step Agreement on Iran's Nuclear Program" (http://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2013/11/24/background-briefing-senior-administration-officials-first-step-agreement). The White House, Office of Press Secretary. 24 November 2014. Retrieved 26 January 2014.
- 42. "BACKGROUND BRIEFING: Senior U.S. Administration Officials on P5+1 Iran Talks" (http://geneva.usmission.gov/2013/11/21/p51-iran-talks/). U.S. Mission to the UN Geneva. 20 November 2013. Retrieved 26 January 2014.
- 43. "The Post's View: Final Iran deal needs to balance out the concessions" (http://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions /final-iran-deal-needs-to-balance-out-the-concessions/2013/11/28/72741e92-5772-11e3-835d-e7173847c7cc story.html). *The Washington Post*. 29 November 2013. Retrieved 29 November 2013.
- 44. "Iran enrichment right recognized in deal: Zarif" (http://www.presstv.ir/detail/2013/11/24/336364/iran-right-to-enrich-recognized-zarif/). Press TV. 24 November 2013. Retrieved 24 November 2013.

- 45. Blake, Aaron (24 November 2013). "Kerry on Iran: 'We do not recognize a right to enrich' " (http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/post-politics/wp/2013/11/24/kerry-on-iran-we-do-not-recognize-a-right-to-enrich/). *The Washington Post*. Retrieved 24 November 2013.
- 46. "Lavrov: Win-win Iran deal only became possible after Rouhani came to power" (http://rt.com/news/lavrov-iran-deal-agreement-223/). Russia Today. 2013-11-24.
- 47. Booth, William (24 November 2013). "Israel's Netanyahu calls Iran deal 'historic mistake' "
 (http://www.washingtonpost.com/world/israel-says-iran-deal-makes-world-more-dangerous/2013/11/24/e0e347de-54f9-11e3-bdbf-097ab2a3dc2b_story.html?tid=ts_carousel). *The Washington Post*. Retrieved 24 November 2013.
- 48. El Gamal, Rania (25 November 2013). "Qatar, Kuwait welcome Iran's nuclear deal with world powers" (http://www.reuters.com/article/2013/11/25/iran-nuclear-qatar-idUSL5N0JA12020131125). *Reuters*. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 49. "Lebanon hails agreement on Iranian n-programme" (http://www.business-standard.com/article/news-ians/lebanon-hails-agreement-on-iranian-n-programme-113112500105_1.html). *Business Standard*. 25 November 2013. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 50. Gul, Abdullah (25 November 2013). "Turkey welcomes Iran nuclear agreement" (http://en.trend.az/regions/met/turkey /2214722.html). *Trend News Agency*. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 51. "India welcomes breakthrough in Iran's nuclear row" (http://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/world/middle-east/India-welcomes-breakthrough-in-Irans-nuclear-row/articleshow/26334306.cms). *The Times of India*. 25 November 2013. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 52. "Pakistan welcomes interim agreement on Iran nuclear issue" (http://news.xinhuanet.com/english/world/2013-11 /24/c 132913638.htm). *Xinhuanet*. 24 November 2013. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 53. "Iran deal a 1st step: KSA" (http://www.saudigazette.com.sa/index.cfm?method=home.regcon&contentid=20131126187789). *Saudi Gazette*. 26 November 2013. Retrieved 26 November 2013.
- 54. Herb Keinon (25 November 2013). "Iran deal: Same world, opposite risk assessments" (http://www.jpost.com/Iranian-Threat/News/Iran-deal-Same-world-opposite-risk-assessments-332898). *The Jerusalem Post*. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 55. "New Labor leader Herzog criticizes Netanyahu and government over Iran deal" (http://www.jpost.com/National-News/New-Labor-party-leader-Isaac-Herzog-criticizes-PM-Netanyahu-and-government-over-Iran-deal-332916). *The Jerusalem Post.* 25 November 2013. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 56. Harel, Amos (26 November 2013). "Israel's ex-security chiefs stand with the international community on Iran deal" (http://www.haaretz.com/news/diplomacy-defense/.premium-1.560262). *Haaretz*. Retrieved 27 November 2013.
- 57. Stuart Winer (28 November 2013). "Iran deal a failure, says ex-national security chief" (http://www.timesofisrael.com/iran-deal-a-failure-says-ex-national-security-chief/). *The Times of Israel*. Retrieved 28 November 2013.
- 58. "Saudi Arabia welcomes Iran nuclear agreement" (http://www.aljazeera.com/news/middleeast/2013/11/saudi-arabia-welcomes-iran-nuclear-agreement-2013112513519366380.html). AlJazeera. 25 November 2013. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 59. McElroy, Damien (25 November 2013). "Iran nuclear deal: Saudi Arabia warns it will strike out on its own" (http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/middleeast/iran/10472538/Iran-nuclear-deal-Saudi-Arabia-warns-it-will-strike-out-on-its-own.html). *The Daily Telegraph*. Retrieved 26 November 2013.

- 60. O'Keeffe, Ed (24 November 2013). "Congress members react to the Iran nuclear deal" (http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/post-politics/wp/2013/11/23/congressional-reaction-to-the-iran-nuclear-deal/). *The Washington Post*. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 61. "Canada "deeply skeptical" of international community's nuclear deal with Iran" (http://www.foxnews.com/world /2013/11/24/canada-deeply-skeptical-international-community-nuclear-deal-with-iran/). *Associated Press via Fox News*. 24 November 2013. Retrieved 25 November 2013.
- 62. حزب الله: اتفاق ايران النووي، انتصار نموذجي وإنجاز عالمي نوعي .62 (http://www.alalam.ir/news/1538139) مزب الله:
- 63. Guttman, Nathan (26 November 2013). "AIPAC Slams Iran Nuclear Deal Calls for Tougher Future Stance" (http://forward.com/articles/188344/aipac-slams-iran-nuclear-deal-calls-for-tougher/). *Jewish Daily Forward*. Retrieved 26 November 2013.
- 64. Salant, Jonathan D. (26 November 2013). "U.S. Pro-Israel Groups Signal They'll Give Iran Deal Time" (http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2013-11-26/u-s-pro-israel-groups-signal-they-ll-give-iran-deal-time.html). Bloomberg L.P. Retrieved 27 November 2013.
- 65. Parisa Hafezi and Justyna Pawlak (12 January 2014). "Iran nuclear deal to take effect on January 20" (http://www.reuters.com/article/2014/01/12/us-iran-nuclear-idUSBREA0B0H820140112). Reuters.
- 66. Paul Richter (13 January 2014). "New Iran agreement includes secret side deal, Tehran official says" (http://www.latimes.com/world/worldnow/la-fg-wn-iran-nuclear-side-deal-20140113,0,4116168.story#axzz2qUhWMvoh). *Los Angeles Times*. Retrieved 15 January 2014.
- 67. Gray, Rosie (12 January 2014). "White House Says Iran Implementation Agreement Being Kept Secret Because Of The EU" (http://www.buzzfeed.com/rosiegray/white-house-says-iran-implementation-agreement-being-kept-se). BuzzFeed. Retrieved 25 January 2014.
- 68. "White House releases summary of six-month Iran nuclear plan" (http://www.reuters.com/article/2014/01/16/us-iran-nuclear-summary-idUSBREA0F1US20140116). *Reuters*. 16 January 2014. Retrieved 21 January 2014.
- 69. "Iran nuclear deal to enter into force on 20 January" (http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-middle-east-25706409). BBC Online. 12 January 2014. Retrieved 15 January 2014.
- 70. "Iran will not 'dismantle' its nuclear infrastructure" (http://www.tehrantimes.com/politics/113427-iran-will-not-dismantle-its-nuclear-infrastructure-official-). *Tehran Times*. 13 January 2014. Retrieved 15 January 2014.
- 71. LAURENCE, NORMAN; JAY, SOLOMON (20 Jan 2014). "Iran Seen Needing Big Steps for Final Deal" (http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB10001424052702304027204579332964034504576). Wall Street Journal. Retrieved 26 Jan 2014.
- 72. "Exclusive: Iran to get first \$550 million of blocked \$4.2 billion on February 1" (http://money.msn.com/business-news/article.aspx?feed=OBR&date=20140112&id=17251210&ocid=msnnws). MSN Money. Reuters. 12 January 2014. Retrieved 15 January 2014.
- 73. Naftali Bendavid (16 January 2014). "EU Details Easing of Iran Sanctions" (http://online.wsj.com/news/articles /SB10001424052702304419104579324362426450896). *The Wall Street Journal*. Retrieved 22 January 2014.

External links

■ "Full text of Iran 5+1 Geneva Agreement 2013" (http://www.globalsecurity.org/wmd/library/policy /int/iran-5-1-geneva-agreement 2013.htm) at GlobalSecurity.

Retrieved from "http://en.wikipedia.org
/w/index.php?title=Geneva_interim_agreement_on_the_Iranian_nuclear_program&oldid=651002031"

Categories: 2013 in international relations | 2013 in Iran | Economy of Iran | Foreign relations of Iran |
Iran—United States relations | Middle East peace efforts | Nuclear energy in Iran | Nuclear program of Iran |
Politics of Iran | Diplomatic conferences in Switzerland | Treaties concluded in 2013 |
Treaties entered into force in 2014 | 2014 in international relations | 2014 in Iran

- This page was last modified on 12 March 2015, at 04:46.
- Text is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike License; additional terms may apply. By using this site, you agree to the Terms of Use and Privacy Policy. Wikipedia® is a registered trademark of the Wikimedia Foundation, Inc., a non-profit organization.